IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA AT HARRISBURG

LOWER SUSQUEHANNA	:	
RIVERKEEPER and the	:	
LOWER SUSQUEHANNA	:	
RIVERKEEPER ASSOCIATION,	:	
Plaintiffs,	:	Civil Action No.
V.	:	
KEYSTONE PROTEIN COMPANY,	:	
Defendant.	:	

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND CIVIL PENALTIES

- 1. This is a citizen suit for declaratory and injunctive relief as well as civil penalties against Defendant Keystone Protein Company ("Keystone") for violations of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq. (hereafter the Clean Water Act ("CWA")), at its poultry rendering facility in Fredericksburg, Pennsylvania.
- 2. As detailed below, Plaintiffs allege that Keystone has discharged and continues to discharge pollutants into waters of the United States in violation of Sections 301 and 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 1342, and the conditions and limitations of its National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("NPDES") Permit Nos. PA0080829 and PA0266345 issued pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question) and 33 U.S.C. § 1365 (CWA citizen's suit provision).

- 4. The Lower Susquehanna Riverkeeper and the Lower Susquehanna Riverkeeper Association (the Association) mailed notice of the violations and their intent to file suit in letters dated February 19, 2019, and April 9, 2019, respectively, and addressed to Keystone, the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), and the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection ("PaDEP"), as required by Section 505(b)(1)(A) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(A).
- 5. More than sixty days have passed since the notice letters were sent. EPA and PaDEP have not commenced or diligently prosecuted a civil or criminal action to redress the violations. Moreover, neither EPA nor PaDEP commenced an administrative penalty action under Section 309(g) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g), or a comparable state law to redress the violations prior to the issuance of the February 19, 2019 or April 9, 2019 notice letters.
- 6. Venue in this District is proper pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1365(c)(1) because the source of the CWA violations is located in this District.
- 7. Keystone is a limited liability company which maintains a business address at 154 West Main Street, Fredericksburg, PA.
- 8. Keystone owns and operates a poultry rendering facility that generates industrial wastewater.
- 9. Keystone Energy is a person within the meaning of Section 502(5) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5).
- 10. Plaintiff Lower Susquehanna Riverkeeper (the Riverkeeper) is a specific person who is designated to focus on identifying sources of pollution and enforcing environmental laws. The Riverkeeper actively educates the public on current issues, works with decision-makers to emphasize the economic and social benefits of protecting the Susquehanna River watershed, and

when necessary enforces laws protecting communities and natural resources of the Susquehanna River Watershed. The current Lower Susquehanna Riverkeeper is Ted Evgeniadis.

- 11. Plaintiff Lower Susquehanna Riverkeeper Association (the Association) is a grassroots supporting organization for the Lower Susquehanna Riverkeeper. Ted Evgeniadis is the Association's current Executive Director and is its only paid employee. The office address of the Riverkeeper and the Association is the same. The Association is an IRS § 501(c)(3) non-profit that operates as a membership-based, mission-driven organization. It is dedicated to improving and protecting the ecological integrity of the Susquehanna Watershed and Chesapeake Bay.
- 12. The Riverkeeper and the Association's members use, enjoy, and benefit from the water quality in tributaries receiving discharges from Keystone's poultry rendering facility, including Little Swatara Creek and the lower Susquehanna River. Their recreational interests include wading, fishing, swimming, and generally enjoying the waters of these streams. Their environmental, aesthetic, and recreational interests are impaired as a result of nitrogen pollution from Keystone's operations.
- 13. The Riverkeeper and the Association's members would like to recreate in areas downstream from the areas where Keystone's poultry rendering facility discharges pollutants. Because of pollutants from that facility, the Riverkeeper and the Association's members refrain from and/or restrict their uses of Little Swatara Creek, the lower Susquehanna River and associated natural resources. As a result, the environmental, aesthetic, and recreational interests of these members are adversely affected by Keystone's excessive discharge of pollutants. If Keystone's unlawful discharges ceased, the harm to the interests of the Riverkeeper and the Association's members would be redressed. An injunction would redress their injuries by

preventing future violations of the limits in Keystone's permits. Civil penalties would also deter Keystone from committing future violations.

14. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs were and are "persons" as that term is defined by the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(5) and SMCRA, 30 U.S.C. § 1291(19).

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

- 15. Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the "discharge of any pollutant by any person" into waters of the United States except in compliance with the terms of a permit, such as an NPDES permit issued by EPA or an authorized state pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.
- 16. Section 402(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a), provides that the permit-issuing authority may issue a NPDES Permit that authorizes the discharge of any pollutant directly into waters of the United States, upon the condition that such discharge will meet all applicable requirements of the CWA and such other conditions as the permitting authority determines necessary to carry out the provisions of the CWA.
- 17. The Administrator of EPA authorized PaDEP, pursuant to Section 402(a)(2) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a)(2), to issue NPDES permits on June 30, 1978. 52 Fed. Reg. 3701. The applicable Pennsylvania law for issuing NPDES permits is the Clean Streams Law, 35 P.S. § 691.1, et seq.
- 18. Section 505(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a), authorizes any "citizen" to "commence a civil action on his own behalf. . . . against any person. . . . who is alleged to be in violation of . . . an effluent standard or limitation under this chapter."
- 19. Section 505(f) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(f), defines an "effluent standard or limitation under this chapter," for purposes of the citizen suit provision in section 505(a) of the

CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a), to mean, among other things, an unlawful act under Section 301(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), and "a permit or condition thereof issued" under Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342.

- 20. In an action brought under Section 505(a) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a), the district court has jurisdiction to order the defendant to comply with the CWA and to assess civil penalties.
- 21. Under Section 505(d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(d), the court "may award costs of litigation (including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) to any prevailing or substantially prevailing party, whenever the court determines such an award is appropriate."
- 22. Section 309(d) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), provides that any person who violates Section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, or violates any permit condition or limitation in a permit issued pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, shall be subject to a civil penalty payable to the United States of up to \$25,000 per day for each violation.
- 23. Pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties Adjustment Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461, as amended buy the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996, 31 U.S.C. § 3701, the court may assess a civil penalty of up to \$37,500 per day for each violation that occurred after January 12, 2009, and \$54,833 for each violation that occurred after November 2, 2015. *See* 40 C.F.R. § 19.4; 84 Fed. Reg. 2059 (Feb. 6, 2019).

FACTS

24. On March 30, 2012, PaDEP issued NPDES Permit No. PA0080829 to Keystone authorizing it to discharge from its poultry rendering facility in Fredericksburg, PA to Beach Run in accordance with certain effluent limitations, monitoring requirements, and other conditions set forth in that permit. The permit limited discharges of total nitrogen from Outfall 001 to a

monthly average concentration of 134 mg/l and a maximum daily concentration of 194 mg/l, and requires a minimum of once-weekly monitoring of the discharges. Those permit limits were in effect from April 1, 2012 until October 31, 2017.

- 25. On October 26, 2017, PaDEP issued NPDES Permit No. PA00266345 to Keystone authorizing it to discharge from its poultry rendering facility in Fredericksburg, PA to Elizabeth Run, an unnamed tributary to Beach Run, and Little Swatara Creek in accordance with certain effluent limitations, monitoring requirements, and other conditions set forth in that permit. The permit limits discharges of total nitrogen from Outfall 001 to a monthly average concentration of 103 mg/l and a maximum daily concentration of 147 mg/l, and requires a minimum of twice-weekly monitoring of the discharges. Those permit limits have been in effect from November 1, 2017 to the present, and are set to continue through at least October 31, 2022.
- 26. Elizabeth Run, Beach Run, and Little Swatara Creek are tributaries of the Susquehanna River.
- 27. The Susquehanna River watershed contributes approximately 46% of the total nitrogen load flowing to the Chesapeake Bay.
- 28. EPA has listed most of the Chesapeake Bay and its tidal waters as impaired because of excess nitrogen, phosphorus and sediment. Those pollutants cause algae blooms that consume oxygen and create "dead zones" where fish and shellfish cannot survive, block sunlight that is needed for underwater grasses, and smother aquatic life on the bottom. In 2010, EPA issued a Total Maximum Daily Load that established nitrogen, phosphorus and sediment allocations for the Bay and the streams that flow into it, including the Susquehanna River watershed.

- 29. PaDEP has classified Keystone as a significant discharger of nitrogen to the Chesapeake Bay. From January 2015 through December 2018, Keystone discharged approximately 351,579 pounds in excess of its annual loading limit for total nitrogen.
- 30. PaDEP has listed Little Swatara Creek under Section 303(d) of the CWA as impaired for nutrients, which include nitrogen.
- 31. NPDES Permit Nos. PA0080829 and PA00266345 each require Keystone to monitor its discharges and report its monitoring results on monthly discharge monitoring reports.
- 32. Keystone's discharge monitoring reports show that it has exceeded its permit limits for total nitrogen at Outfall 001 on the dates listed in Attachment A to this complaint.
- 33. On March 30, 2012, Keystone entered into a first Consent Order and Agreement (COA) with PaDEP to construct a new wastewater treatment plant and to comply with the total nitrogen limits in its NPDES permit on or before October 1, 2016. This COA also imposed stipulated penalties for violations of Keystone's NPDES effluent limits for total nitrogen.
- 34. As a result of this COA, Keystone made plans to build a new wastewater treatment plant. The estimated capital cost of the plant was \$5,618,959 and its estimated annual operating and maintenance expenses were \$790,000, which exceeded the annual operating and maintenance expenses of the existing treatment plant, which were \$454,000.
- 35. On July 17, 2015, Keystone notified PaDEP that it would construct a new chicken processing facility and expanded poultry rendering plant on the property of the existing poultry rendering plant. The new facility would include a new industrial wastewater plant (IWTP) to serve the new processing plant and expanded poultry rendering facility. The new IWTP would replace the existing IWTP. Due to the planned construction of the new IWTP, Keystone decided

not to upgrade the existing IWTP and not to meet its NPDES permit limits for total nitrogen by the October 1, 2016 deadline in the 2012 COA.

- 36. On May 24, 2017, Keystone entered into a second COA with PaDEP that superseded the first COA. The second COA ordered Keystone to begin construction of its new IWTP by December 1, 2019 and complete construction by June 1, 2021. This COA also imposed stipulated penalties for violations of Keystone's NPDES effluent limits, including its limits for total nitrogen.
- 37. On information and belief, as of March 2019, Keystone had paid approximately \$130,000 in stipulated penalties to PaDEP under the COAs.
- 38. According to the information posted on the website for the Pennsylvania Infrastructure Investment Authority (PENNVEST), this Pennsylvania state agency gave Keystone a \$11 million loan in January 2018 to construct its new IWTP, and stated that the projected capital cost of that IWTP is \$16,536,000.
- 39. Keystone's economic benefit from its delayed and avoided permit compliance greatly exceeds the stipulated penalties it has paid, and may continue to pay, to PaDEP under the first and second COAs.
- 40. The first and second COAs between Keystone and PaDEP were negotiated and signed without any prior public notice to the public or Plaintiffs, and without any opportunity for the public or Plaintiffs to comment on or object to those COAs.

CLAIM FOR RELIEF

- 41. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 40 above.
- 42. Since at least October 2014, Keystone has discharged and continues to discharge a pollutant from a point source, i.e. total nitrogen from Outfall 001 of its Fredericksburg poultry rendering facility, into Beach Run, Elizabeth Run, and/or Little Swatara Creek in excess of the limits allowed by its NPDES Permit Nos. PA0080829 and PA00266345.
- 43. Beach Run, Elizabeth Run, Little Swatara Creek and the Susquehanna River are waters of the United States within the meaning of 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7).
- 44. Keystone will continue to be in violation of its effluent limitations for total nitrogen until its new IWTP is constructed and operating.
- 45. Pursuant to Sections 309(d) and 505 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(d) and 1365, Keystone is liable for civil penalties for each day of each violation of the effluent limitations for total nitrogen in its permits.
- 46. Keystone is subject to an injunction under the CWA ordering it to cease its permit violations.

REQUESTS FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiffs request that this Court issue an order:

- Declaring that Keystone has violated and is in continuing violation of its NPDES
 Permit Nos. PA0080829 and PA00266345 and the Clean Water Act;
- 2. Enjoining Keystone from operating its facilities in such a manner as will result in further violations of its NPDES permit and the CWA;

- 3. Ordering Keystone to immediately comply with effluent limitations contained in its NPDES permit;
- 4. Ordering Keystone to pay appropriate civil penalties for each violation of its NPDES permits and the CWA;
- 5. Awarding Plaintiffs their attorney fees, expert witness fees, and all other reasonable expenses incurred in pursuit of this action; and
 - 6. Granting other such relief as this Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVE HARVEY LAW LLC

By: __

Dated: July 29, 2019

Stephen G. Harvey 1880 John F. Kennedy Blvd. Suite 1715 Philadelphia, PA 19103 (215) 438-6600 steve@steveharveylaw.com

Counsel for Plaintiffs

Case 1:19-cv-01307-CCTL Decoment 1-1 Elled 07/29/19 Page 1 of 1

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS			1111010	DEFENDANTS					
Lower Susquehanna Riv	erkeener et al		Keystone Protein Company						
(b) County of Residence of		York County, PA	County of Residence of First Listed Defendant Lebanon County, PA (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.						
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, A	Address, and Telephone Numbe	r)		Attorneys (If Known)					
Stephen G. Harvey, Stev Suite 1715, Philadelphia	ve Harvey Law LLC, 18	380 John F. Kenned	y Blvd.	Terry R. Bossert, F Harrisburg, PA 17		. Second Street, 12th Floor,			
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	ICTION (Place an "X" in O	One Box Only)			RINCIPAL PARTIES	${f S}$ (Place an "X" in One Box for Plainti			
☐ 1 U.S. Government				(For Diversity Cases Only) P1 en of This State	TF DEF 1 □ 1 Incorporated or 1 of Business In				
☐ 2 U.S. Government Defendant	☐ 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizensh	ip of Parties in Item III)	Citize	en of Another State	2	d Principal Place ☐ 5 ☐ 5 n Another State			
				en or Subject of a reign Country	3 🗖 3 Foreign Nation	□ 6 □ 6			
IV. NATURE OF SUIT						e of Suit Code Descriptions.			
CONTRACT		PERSONAL INITIRY		DRFEITURE/PENALTY 5 Drug Related Seizure	BANKRUPTCY 1 422 Appeal 28 USC 158	OTHER STATUTES ☐ 375 False Claims Act			
 □ 110 Insurance □ 120 Marine □ 130 Miller Act □ 140 Negotiable Instrument □ 150 Recovery of Overpayment & Enforcement of Judgment □ 151 Medicare Act □ 152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans (Excludes Veterans) □ 153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits □ 160 Stockholders' Suits □ 190 Other Contract □ 195 Contract Product Liability □ 196 Franchise REAL PROPERTY □ 210 Land Condemnation □ 220 Foreclosure □ 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment □ 240 Torts to Land □ 245 Tort Product Liability □ 290 All Other Real Property 	PERSONAL INJURY 310 Airplane 315 Airplane Product Liability 320 Assault, Libel & Slander 330 Federal Employers' Liability 340 Marine 345 Marine Product Liability 350 Motor Vehicle Product Liability 360 Other Personal Injury 362 Personal Injury - Medical Malpractice CIVIL RIGHTS 440 Other Civil Rights 441 Voting 442 Employment 443 Housing/ Accommodations 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - Employment 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - Other Other 448 Education	PERSONAL INJURY 365 Personal Injury - Product Liability Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability Product Liability Product Liability PERSONAL PROPER 370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending 380 Other Personal Property Damage Troperty Damage Product Liability PRISONER PETITION Habeas Corpus: 463 Alien Detainee 510 Motions to Vacate Sentence 530 General 535 Death Penalty Other: 540 Mandamus & Othe 550 Civil Rights 555 Prison Condition 560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of Confinement		LABOR 0 Other 10 Other LABOR 10 Fair Labor Standards Act 10 Labor/Management Relations 10 Railway Labor Act 11 Family and Medical Leave Act 10 Other Labor Litigation 11 Employee Retirement Income Security Act 11 Immigration 12 Naturalization Application 13 Other Immigration 14 Other Immigration 15 Other Immigration 16 Other Immigration 17 Other Immigration 18 Actions	□ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 □ 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157 PROPERTY RIGHTS □ 820 Copyrights □ 835 Patent - Abbreviated New Drug Application □ 840 Trademark SOCIAL SECURITY □ 861 HIA (1395ff) □ 862 Black Lung (923) □ 864 SSID Title XVI □ 865 RSI (405(g)) □ FEDERAL TAX SUITS □ 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant) □ 871 IRS—Third Party 26 USC 7609	□ 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 3729(a)) □ 400 State Reapportionment □ 410 Antitrust □ 430 Banks and Banking □ 450 Commerce □ 460 Deportation □ 470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations □ 480 Consumer Credit □ 490 Cable/Sat TV □ 850 Securities/Commodities/			
	moved from 3	Remanded from Appellate Court		stated or	er District Litigation	on - Litigation -			
VI. CAUSE OF ACTIO	ON 33 U.S.C. §§ 131 Brief description of ca	9 and 1365		Oo not cite jurisdictional stat	tutes unless diversity):				
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:	UNDER RULE 2	IS A CLASS ACTION 3, F.R.Cv.P.	D	EMAND \$ N/A	CHECK YES onl JURY DEMANI	ly if demanded in complaint: D: ☐ Yes ※No			
VIII. RELATED CASI	E(S) (See instructions):	JUDGE			DOCKET NUMBER _				
DATE 07/29/2019 FOR OFFICE USE ONLY		signature of attr /s/ Stephen G. I							
	MOUNT	APPLYING IFP		JUDGE	МАС. Л	UDGE			

Attachment A

List of Violations

	Month- Yr	Outfall	Parameter	DMR Value	Permit Limit	Units	Туре	% Over Limit
1	Oct-14	001A	Total N	260.1	134	mg/l	Avg	94
2	Oct-14	001A	Total N	275.5	194	mg/l	Max	42
3	Nov-14	001A	Total N	263.3	134	mg/l	Avg	96
4	Nov-14	001A	Total N	280.6	194	mg/l	Max	45
5	Dec-14	001A	Total N	232.5	134	mg/l	Avg	74
6	Dec-14	001A	Total N	238.5	194	mg/l	Max	23
7	Jan-15	001A	Total N	253.9	134	mg/l	Avg	89
8	Jan-15	001A	Total N	280.1	194	mg/l	Max	44
9	Feb-15	001A	Total N	219.8	134	mg/l	Avg	64
10	Feb-15	001A	Total N	234.5	194	mg/l	Max	21
11	Mar-15	001A	Total N	200.3	134	mg/l	Avg	49
12	Mar-15	001A	Total N	220.5	194	mg/l	Max	14
13	Apr-15	001A	Total N	218.9	134	mg/l	Avg	63
14	Apr-15	001A	Total N	228.5	194	mg/l	Max	18
15	May-15	001A	Total N	210.5	134	mg/l	Avg	57
16	May-15	001A	Total N	215.5	194	mg/l	Max	11
17	Jun-15	001A	Total N	246.5	134	mg/l	Avg	84
18	Jun-15	001A	Total N	267.5	194	mg/l	Max	38
19	Jul-15	001A	Total N	268.3	134	mg/l	Avg	100
20	Jul-15	001A	Total N	274.5	194	mg/l	Max	41
21	Aug-15	001A	Total N	252.3	134	mg/l	Avg	88
22	Aug-15	001A	Total N	257.5	194	mg/l	Max	33
23	Sep-15	001A	Total N	233.5	134	mg/l	Avg	74

24	Sep-15	001A	Total N	252.5	194	mg/l	Max	30
25	Oct-15	001A	Total N	204.3	134	mg/l	Avg	52
26	Oct-15	001A	Total N	213.5	194	mg/l	Max	10
27	Nov-15	001A	Total N	194.8	134	mg/l	Avg	45
28	Nov-15	001A	Total N	207.5	194	mg/l	Max	7
29	Dec-15	001A	Total N	175.1	134	mg/l	Avg	31
30	Jan-16	001A	Total N	175	134	mg/l	Avg	31
31	Feb-16	001A	Total N	191.5	134	mg/l	Avg	43
32	Feb-16	001A	Total N	195.5	194	mg/l	Max	1
33	Mar-16	001A	Total N	208.5	134	mg/l	Avg	56
34	Mar-16	001A	Total N	204.9	194	mg/l	Max	6
35	Apr-16	001A	Total N	194	134	mg/l	Avg	45
36	Apr-16	001A	Total N	200.5	194	mg/l	Max	3
37	May-16	001A	Total N	219.5	134	mg/l	Avg	64
38	May-16	001A	Total N	233.5	194	mg/l	Max	20
39	Jun-16	001A	Total N	240.5	134	mg/l	Avg	79
40	Jun-16	001A	Total N	262.5	194	mg/l	Max	35
41	Jul-16	001A	Total N	246.5	134	mg/l	Avg	84
42	Jul-16	001A	Total N	258.5	194	mg/l	Max	33
43	Aug-16	001A	Total N	243.8	134	mg/l	Avg	82
44	Aug-16	001A	Total N	255.5	194	mg/l	Max	32
45	Sep-16	001A	Total N	276.5	134	mg/l	Avg	106
46	Sep-16	001A	Total N	290.5	194	mg/l	Max	50
47	Oct-16	001A	Total N	251	134	mg/l	Avg	87
48	Oct-16	001A	Total N	263.5	194	mg/l	Max	36
49	Nov-16	001A	Total N	251.5	134	mg/l	Avg	88
50	Nov-16	001A	Total N	265.5	194	mg/l	Max	37

51	Dec-16	001A	Total N	193.3	134	mg/l	Avg	44
52	Dec-16	001A	Total N	226.5	194	mg/l	Max	17
53	Jan-17	001A	Total N	198.8	134	mg/l	Avg	48
54	Jan-17	001A	Total N	204.5	194	mg/l	Max	5
55	Feb-17	001A	Total N	275	134	mg/l	Avg	105
56	Feb-17	001A	Total N	286.5	194	mg/l	Max	48
57	Mar-17	001A	Total N	321.3	134	mg/l	Avg	140
58	Mar-17	001A	Total N	538.5	194	mg/l	Max	178
59	Apr-17	001A	Total N	200.1	134	mg/l	Avg	49
60	Apr-17	001A	Total N	207.5	194	mg/l	Max	7
61	May-17	001A	Total N	254.3	134	mg/l	Avg	90
62	May-17	001A	Total N	267	194	mg/l	Max	38
63	Jun-17	001A	Total N	301.7	134	mg/l	Avg	125
64	Jun-17	001A	Total N	335.5	194	mg/l	Max	73
65	Jul-17	001A	Total N	342.3	134	mg/l	Avg	155
66	Jul-17	001A	Total N	362.5	194	mg/l	Max	87
67	Aug-17	001A	Total N	390.7	134	mg/l	Avg	192
68	Aug-17	001A	Total N	410.5	194	mg/l	Max	112
69	Sep-17	001A	Total N	389.3	134	mg/l	Avg	191
70	Sep-17	001A	Total N	400.5	194	mg/l	Max	106
71	Oct-17	001A	Total N	317.3	134	mg/l	Avg	137
72	Oct-17	001A	Total N	358.5	194	mg/l	Max	85
73	Nov-17	001A	Total N	230.3	103	mg/l	Avg	124
74	Nov-17	001A	Total N	262.5	147	mg/l	Max	79
75	Dec-17	001A	Total N	220	103	mg/l	Avg	114
76	Dec-17	001A	Total N	230.5	147	mg/l	Max	57
77	Jan-18	001A	Total N	252.8	103	mg/l	Avg	145

78	Jan-18	001A	Total N	267	147	mg/l	Max	82
79	Feb-18	001A	Total N	276	103	mg/l	Avg	168
80	Feb-18	001A	Total N	293.5	147	mg/l	Max	100
81	Mar-18	001A	Total N	250.7	103	mg/l	Avg	143
82	Mar-18	001A	Total N	260.5	147	mg/l	Max	77
83	Apr-18	001A	Total N	221.5	103	mg/l	Avg	115
84	Apr-18	001A	Total N	237.5	147	mg/l	Max	62
85	May-18	001A	Total N	253.7	103	mg/l	Avg	146
86	May-18	001A	Total N	284.5	147	mg/l	Max	94
87	Jun-18	001A	Total N	299.2	103	mg/l	Avg	190
88	Jun-18	001A	Total N	324.5	147	mg/l	Max	121
89	Jul-18	001A	Total N	295.5	103	mg/l	Avg	187
90	Jul-18	001A	Total N	373.5	147	mg/l	Max	154
91	Aug-18	001A	Total N	347.7	103	mg/l	Avg	238
92	Aug-18	001A	Total N	370.5	147	mg/l	Max	152
93	Sep-18	001A	Total N	433.6	103	mg/l	Avg	321
94	Sep-18	001A	Total N	508.7	147	mg/l	Max	246
95	Oct-18	001A	Total N	348	103	mg/l	Avg	238
96	Oct-18	001A	Total N	366	147	mg/l	Max	149
97	Nov-18	001A	Total N	287	103	mg/l	Avg	179
98	Nov-18	001A	Total N	300	147	mg/l	Max	104
99	Dec-18	001A	Total N	257.7	103	mg/l	Avg	150
100	Dec-18	001A	Total N	294.5	147	mg/l	Max	100
101	Jan-19	001A	Total N	258	103	mg/l	Avg	150
102	Jan-19	001A	Total N	305.5	147	mg/l	Max	108
103	Feb-19	001A	Total N	270	103	mg/l	Avg	162
104	Feb-19	001A	Total N	281.5	147	mg/l	Max	91

Case 1:19-cv-01307-CCC Document 1-2 Filed 07/29/19 Page 5 of 5

105	Mar-19	001A	Total N	278.17	103	mg/l	Avg	170
106	Mar-19	001A	Total N	286.50	147	mg/l	Max	95
107	Apr-19	001A	Total N	264.25	103	mg/l	Avg	157
108	Apr-19	001A	Total N	273.50	147	mg/l	Max	86
109	May-19	001A	Total N	266.10	103	mg/l	Avg	158
110	May-19	001A	Total N	275.50	147	mg/l	Max	87

Avg Monthly average
Max Daily maximum
Total N Total Nitrogen